APPLICATION FOR A TEXAS STATE HISTORIC SUBJECT MARKER
FOR THE BRYAN & COLLEGE INTERURBAN RAILWAY

Introduction

The Bryan and Coliege interurban Raiiway began service in 1810 and operated
passenger trolleys until 1923 between the city of Bryan and what was then cailed the
Texas Agricultural & Mechanical Coliege. During that period the BCi provided an
important link between Bryan and the college five miles distant which permitted students
and faculty t¢ live in Bryan thus easing pressure on the limited college housing facilities.
It also enhanced public mobility. generaily benefitted the growth of Bryan businesses,
and was a significant factor in stimuiating development along the right of way These
factors influenced the two communities to grow together and determined the linear path
that this deveiopment 100k,

Creation of the Bryan & College Interurban Railway

On Cctober 7. 1908 the Byan Pay Fagle and Flot published a "Special Trolley
Edition" which announced to the community that at a meeting of the Retail Merchants.
Associaiion a2 committee had been formea to mage pians for an interurban raiiway iine to
connect the city and the college The committee, chaired by Ed Hali president of the
First State Sank and Trust Co.. was composed of prominent citizens: A. M. Waldrop,
Major L. L Mcinnis. AL W Wilkerson and W E. Saunders Mayor J. 7. Maioney of Bryan
was a strong proponent of the scheme: and he offered to form a stock company if
$10.000 could be raised for the project in Bryan. It has been speculated that Mayor
Maloney had engaged in extensive prior negotiations with O. E. Gammill, of Cadde,
Ckiahoma. the buiider and iater. director of the interurban. since the target date fer the
startup of service. fate 1310 wouid riot nave been reaistic if arrangements were not
already well under way Moreover Maloney had a background as a promoter and
deveioper and had sxperience in transportation having formerly been employed by the
inmternational & Great Northern Railroad {i & G N). In additon to the bonus an additional
$3.000 n imerurpan stock was offered 1o local investors  Mayor Maioney and
businessmar in the Merchants Assaciation incorporated the Bryan and Collage
interirban Railway Company and mortgaged and underwrcte 1t with $100.C0C in bonds

issued through tne Texas Rairoad Commissioner.’



President Robert Teague Miiner ¢f the College was reported as strongly in support of
the project although some faculty members objected that dormitory living was an
important component of cadet training.2

At this time Bryan had a population of 4,132 which was to grow to 6,307 in the next
decade. There was a population of 757 students and facuity on the A. & M. campus.
College Avenue connected the two communities?® In 1910 Bryan and Coliege Station
were served by three railroad lines. The Houston and Texas Central Railroad (H & TC)
which connected to Galveston and Ft. Worth was responsible for the establisnment cf
Bryan in 1867. The town was named Bryan after William Joei Bryan.the owner of the
“one square mile of land purchased by the rairoad The coming of the railroad made
Bryan the transportation center for the area principally for the shipping of cotton. In 1800
the

| & G N extended service to Bryan and later the Missouri Pacific Line was added.4 In
1897 a bicycle club was founded at the college for students and faculty with the purpose
of promoting biking and building a bicycle track to Bryan. ‘This path enhanced movement
between those at the college and the town, but the difficulty the group experienced in
maintaining it caused them to abandon their efforts in 1900.5

In 1910 trave! in the Bryan area was mainly by railroad and by horse-drawn vehicies.
This was an era marked by rapid growth nationally of networks of interurban lines
connecting towns and cities such as the one which already connected Dallas and Ft.
Worth. . These lines provided inexpensive frequent service and enabled people to travel
from one population center to another making these centers accessible to those in rural
locations. They were. in general, primarily intended for passenger service, they used
heavier gauge. faster equipment than typicai city streeicars. they operated on ciiy sreets
and aiong rurai highways. and they were most commonly powered by efectricity
although gasoiine or aicono! was sometimes used as fuel &

The first automobile owner in Bryan. in 1901. was a Mr. Bonevilie Early autos were

- expeénsive ana.very prone 1o breakgowns. Bryan had no garage at that time. and ail
reparrs had to be done by blacksmitns. These factors caused the numbers of Bryan
automobiles t¢ grow slowiy but by 1914 registration was impesed and the speed limit of
8 miles an hour enactsd in 1906 was raised to 15 miles per hour.” By 1910 a few Bryan
residents owned autos and others had them on order 8 Local roads which were
alternatively muddy or séndy were gradually 'improved as the needs of motorists began
to become 2 factor. The advent of the interurban has been credited for precipitating the
paving of College Avenue with asphait the first road with that surface in the state ®
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In the enthusiasm which accompanied the butlding of the BC! | M. Hewit. an officer of
the railway. advocated that Bryan should plan to build an interurban link to every city
within thirty miles '¢  Ultimately. the only other interurban line which was built in the
area was the Bryan & Central Texas Interurban Raiiway which began service in 1512
and operated unti! 1920 when it was sold 1t provided service from Bryan across the
Brazos river to Smetana and served the plantations of the Brazes River valiey.!!

Routing and Building the BCi

Routing of the troliey line between Bryan and the Coliege was infiuenced by the
desirabiiity of negotiationing for right of way witn the minimum number of jandowners.
Much of the land it came to traversz iri that area was owned by Fred L. Cavitt in the
immediate college area it was {o pass through "Boyett's Corner” (presently the block of
University Drive extending to Weliborn Road from Soyette Street) owned by W. . Boyett.
who operated a grocery store serving the campus It would also seem that the interest
and cocperation of Cavitt. Boyett and the other property owners was an important factor
in selecting the exact route the interurban was to transect. Construction work began with
a groundoreaking ceremony January 21. 1910 on Cavitt's land two miies south of
town 12 Work was directad by O E. Gammill who fater became responsible for its
operation. He was fater succesded as drecter by L. M. Levinson '3 Cavitt ana other
landowners along the line actively dzveloped subdvisions for homes and sma!! farms.

ana popuiation growin ciearly foliowed the interurban route 14

The original proiected route was from Gathright Hal! on the coilege campus nerth across
Beyetie's Cerner to what is called Cavitt Avenue today which was referred te an maps
as "Car Line." At the intersection of Burnett {or Eigin) Avenue!3 the line want north along
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The BCl Begins Service

Tne first gasofine-powered car arived by railroad on May 28. 1910 and it was schediied
to Qo inte service the next day '® The remaining three cars were added later anc when
service got under way it consisted of ten thirty-minute trips per day in each direction. By
1912 the schedule consisted of eleven daily trips and nine on Sundays 19

After two years of operation some complaints arose over "very irregular and
unsatisfactory” service. The cars which had been manufactured in Michigah had to be
sent back to the factory when they required servicing. President Milner of Texas A. & M.
cailed a meeting and stated that he recommended electrifying the system. He estimated
that it would cost $22.000 to purchase and install the necessary equipment including two
new “pay-as-you-enter” cars. The financial report for the previous two years showed it to
be a "very profitable investment." and he urged campus residents to subscribe to
$11.000 in stock 2° This was foliowed by a notice placed in the Eaa/e signed by J. T.
Maloney indicating the intention of the directors to increase the capita! stock from
$20.000 to $40.000 to underwrite this work.and to extend the line at both ends.2'

In 1917 according to the £Fag/e service seemed to be satisfactory since a report of a BCi
stockholders’ meeting indicated that they expected that within a year the line would have
paid off all its old debts and the costs of imzrovements which had been authorized by the
City of Bryan. The Board of Directers consistad of local prominent bankers. atiorneys
and merchants. S. S. Hunter was president and otners on the Board were W. E.
Saunders, J. W. Doremus. L. L. Mcinnis. H. O. Boatwright A. W Wilkerson. W. H. Cole,
M. H James. John M. Lawrence and L. M. Levinson. It also stated that the Country Club
was planning to build a concrete walk across Dellwood Park to fink up with the
interurban 22 Deliwood Park had been created at the time the fine was buiit to provide
an attraction along the route.

An intimation of problems occurs in an Fagke item which appeared the next year. itwas
stated that compiaints were raised at the meating of the Commﬂrciai Club that BC: freight
Geliveries were often two days late  The fast that the BC! ha: egun freight service
would seem tc be indicative of a decling in passen iger revenues  Apparently the difficuity
with deliveries was due to problems in getting labor to do the work. There was aise a
report of speculation in interurban tickets  To remeay this it was decided 1o put tickets on

saie at the College for ten cents each five cants below the standard fare 23
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A clear statement of the growing woes of the line appeared in 1919 when College
President William Bennett Bizzell appeared before the Commercial Club and suggested
that, in view of plans to cut the schedule on December 21 and frequent service
interruptions, @ committee be created to investigate the situation and make
recommendations for greater efficiency and profitability. It was stated that the main
problems were labor difficulties and competition from the jitney and car-hire services
which had begun operating.2* No mention was made of the growth of the use of private
automobiles. Nonetheless, that has to be considered as a factor in the decline of the
Bryan interurban just as it was a leading cause of the nationwide decline in patronage of
interurban lines as a means of transportation between towns.25 By 1919 929
automabiles were registered in Bryan 26

In August of 1922 a headline in the £Fagle announced that the BCI had gone into
receivership. Louisiana bondholders had petitioned in Houston federal court, and Judge
Duval West had appointed | C. Griffith, Assistant Cashier of the National Bank of
Commerce receiver. Griffith subsequentiy filed a $15.000 bond and admitted the
accuracy of charges filed by J. D. Wilkinson of Shreveport acting as trustee for the estate
of S. S. Hunter who had owned all of the $100.000 issue of bonds floated in 1910. The
ponds were to bear 6% interest and a total of $49,544 in interest was unpaid for 1921
and 1922. Subsequently Griffith placed a notice to creditors to file claims, and the
Chamber of Commerce set up two committees to study and report on the condition of the
interurban. 27

On April 10. 1923 the BCI was sold at auction from the steps of the Courthouse to the

S. S. Hunter estate for $40,000. and the work of tearing up the track commenced.28 The
last recorded trip of the Interurban occurred on April 13, 1923. Seven years later
Eugene Edge. President of the Bryan College Traction Company announced the sale of
steel and overhead wiring and equipment to Crandail & Perry, Inc. of Dallas for $6.500.
The Traction Company which operated a bus service in Bryan and to the College had
evidently come into possession of many of the assets of BCI. They retained the
franchise right of way. real estate and business and office equipment 28



Conclusion

The BCi cnly operated for thirteen years, but it had a significant effect on the ultimate
direction of development of Bryan and College Station and provided the first tangible
indication of what was to become a binary social system. Although Bryan and College
Station, which was incorporated in 1938, are independent political entities today they
merge indistinguishably. Only the town boundary signs clearly mark the transition from
one to the other. There is no question that having this line also stimulated commerce
and provided mobility for the citizens of Bryan and the residents of the Texas A. & M.
campus until it was superceded by other means of transportation. The memory of the
Interurban is preserved for today's residents by buses serving both cities which are
designed to look like the old trolleys.
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